## **RECEIVED**

02-23-2011

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I I

Case No. 2010AP2516 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

LESHURN HUNT,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief, Entered in Kenosha County Circuit Court, Honorable Bruce E. Schroeder, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

RANDALL E. PAULSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1010266

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 E-mail: paulsonr@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES**

1. Before and after Mr. Hunt told the court he intended to testify in his jury trial, the court and prosecutor informed him of a number of evidentiary responses his testifying might produce. Mr. Hunt eventually changed his position and did not testify. Did the circuit court compromise his right to make a knowing and voluntary decision?

The circuit court denied the post-conviction motion raising this claim. (78:1-29, App. 102-130).

2. Is Mr. Hunt entitled to a new trial because the pre-trial or during-trial rulings were not sufficiently clear as to what statements the circuit suppressed, and because he received ineffective assistance of counsel at the suppression hearing when his attorney failed to adduce evidence corroborating his claim that police beat him?

The trial court declined to hold an evidentiary hearing, but did not rule on this portion of the post-conviction motion.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted. *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶41, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 464, 666 N.W.2d 485, requires "a simple and straightforward exchange" where the court verifies the defendant's decision whether to testify. *Weed* recognizes the exchange should not run afoul of "valid concerns" about interfering with "trial strategy and the integrity of the attorney-client relationship." *Id*. This case raises those concerns, and whether Mr. Hunt's decision was knowing and voluntary. A published decision could enunciate a new rule of law or modify, clarify, or criticize an existing rule, Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1, because Wisconsin's common law does not include an example of an exchange that violates *Weed*. A published decision could apply *Weed* to "a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions." Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)2.

If this court contemplates publication, oral argument might be of significant rather than "marginal value." *See*, Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint alleging that, on June 26, 2006, Mr. Hunt robbed the Dollar Saver Store on Sheridan Road in Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County. (1). On October 8, 2008, a jury returned verdicts finding Mr. Hunt guilty of the six offenses charged in the complaint and information: armed robbery, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.32(2)<sup>1</sup>; possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a); two counts of false imprisonment (one count as to each of the store clerks), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.30;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references are to the 2005-06 edition of the statutes.

and two counts of making threats to injure, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.30(1). As to the false-imprisonments and threats-to-injure, the jury found Mr. Hunt used a dangerous weapon within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 939.63(10(b). (33-38).

On November 14, 2008, Circuit Court Judge Bruce E. Schroeder imposed sentences totaling 62 years of initial confinement and 32 years of extended supervision, to be served consecutively to a 29 year prison sentence Mr. Hunt is serving in Illinois on his conviction for an armed robbery committed the same day in Waukegan. (77; 44, App. 131-132).

Mr. Hunt timely filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief, and a motion for post-conviction relief. (49, 59). After a non-evidentiary hearing, Judge Schroeder denied the motion. (78:1-29, App. 102-130; 65, App. 101). Mr. Hunt appeals the judgment and order. (66).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Summary of Allegations and Evidence

The complaint alleged that police were called to the Dollar Saver Store at about 4:15 in the afternoon of June 26, 2006. They spoke with two store clerks, who reported they were robbed and threatened with "what looked like a homemade type shotgun with duct tape near the grip." They were forced into a back room after the robbery. (1).

Police officers also interviewed employees of the nearby State Line Citgo gas station. Gas station employees produced a video surveillance tape and a log showing the license plate numbers of people getting gas. License plate #9885751 was registered to Mr. Hunt, and police determined that a photo of Mr. Hunt matched the image in the video

surveillance tape. One of the clerks chose Mr. Hunt's photo from an array of six as the person who robbed her. (1).

The two clerks testified at trial, along with witnesses from the gas station, and a police officer who testified that Mr. Hunt admitted being at the gas station, and that he incriminated himself when confronted with the accusation that he committed the crimes. The State also presented the testimony of the owner of a store in Waukegan, who claimed Mr. Hunt robbed her there earlier on the day he was charged with the armed robbery of the Dollar Saver Store. The State adduced evidence that Mr. Hunt's fingerprint was recovered from the front doorknob of the Waukegan store.

#### Mr. Hunt's Decisions to Testify and to Not Testify

After the State rested, the defense had no witnesses to present, except possibly Mr. Hunt. (76:93, App. 155). Mr. Hunt said he would testify. (76:88, App. 150). He later said he would not testify. (76:94, App. 156). Before Mr. Hunt said he would testify, the court:

- Granted the prosecutor's request to confirm that, if Mr. Hunt testified and denied committing the Waukegan armed robbery (on which the State had presented other-acts evidence), the State would be able to also introduce the Illinois state court's judgment of conviction. (76:72-76, App. 134-138).
- Denied the prosecutor's request to declare what allegations Mr. Hunt could make that his police statements were produced by beatings. The court indicated it would have to hear the testimony and determine whether it was relevant. (76:76-82, App. 138-144).

- Told Mr. Hunt he was "well-advised to listen carefully to" his attorney's advice, but that the decision whether to testify was his alone. (76:82, App. 144).
- Told Mr. Hunt that if he testified, the prosecutor could question him "about anything which is relevant," including the Illinois armed robbery, as an example, and that he could not invoke the Fifth Amendment about it. This was true "[r]egardless" of whether he was still appealing his Illinois conviction, so long as the prosecutor's questions were relevant. (76:82-83, App. 144-145).
- Told Mr. Hunt the prosecutor could ask him about his "former convictions" and Mr. Hunt would have to answer truthfully how many he had, or risk questioning to establish their details. (76:83-84, App. 145-146).
- Told Mr. Hunt that "[s]eparately from that," the prosecutor might be permitted to question Mr. Hunt about "other acts which you have engaged in, some of which may be crimes which may tend to influence the jury's consideration of whether you're an honest person or not. And you'll have to answer those questions. So ... that's what goes with testifying. You can tell your story, but you're subject to being questioned by the district attorney or you can remain silent in which case and obviously, by not testifying and if you do that [you can decide whether the court should instruct the jury of your right to not testify]. (76:84, App. 146).

The court asked whether Mr. Hunt understood "all that," and Mr. Hunt said, "To some degree, yeah." The court asked what he did not understand. (*Id.*). Mr. Hunt asked how much of his testimony the prosecutor would be allowed to block as to being beaten by the police. The court repeated that the test would be relevance.

The court asked whether Mr. Hunt had enough time to discuss with his attorney his decision whether to testify, and defense counsel indicated they had not "been able to talk about this new issue," presumably the likely admission of the Illinois judgment. The court called a ten-minute break. (76:86, App. 148).

The court then confirmed that Mr. Hunt had had enough time to talk with his attorney and to think about what he was doing, that he had not been rushed, and that he thought his decision was "the best thing under the circumstances." (76:87, App. 149). Mr. Hunt had no questions for the court and had not been threatened, pressured or influenced by promises. (*Id.*) He had not had any alcohol or drugs, his mind was clear, and he was "feeling all right." (76:87-88, App. 149-150). The court then asked whether Mr. Hunt would testify and he responded, "Umm—Yes." (76:88, App. 150).

The court said it would not re-visit the issue absent Mr. Hunt's request. The prosecutor suggested the issue should be finalized "because I don't know of any other witnesses that are ready in here." (76:89, App. 151). The court agreed to request a "final decision," but the prosecutor said, "Let me ask a couple of preliminary things." The court approved. (*Id.*). The following developed before Mr. Hunt changed his position from testifying to not testifying:

- The first "preliminary thing" the prosecutor raised was how many convictions Mr. Hunt would admit, arguing he had five and should have to admit all of them. The court agreed. (76:89-90, App. 151-152).
- Next, although the State had rested, and had never sought to introduce this evidence before, the prosecutor asked the court to "weigh in" on whether Mr. Hunt could be asked whether Mr. Hunt had a gun in an incident resulting in his 1984 conviction (which, like the armed robbery in Waukegan Mr. Hunt allegedly committed on the day of these crimes, occurred in Illinois) for murder and armed robbery "in a scenario with a clerk..." (76:90-91, App. 152-153). court said it would not "take the time to actually decide it now," but "I would tell the defense that there would be a substantial risk that I would allow testimony regarding that episode..." The court went on to say there was "some risk" Mr. Hunt's testimony would lead to cross-examination on the issue. (76:91,App. 153). The court said it was "not even considering" whether the evidence would be admitted as other-acts, just whether it would be a basis for cross-examination under Wis. Stat. § 906.08. (76:92, App. 154).<sup>2</sup>
- Defense counsel protested this was "a new issue" and he had no police reports. Counsel

Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2) concerns "[s]pecific instances of conduct of a witness" that may not be proved by "extrinsic evidence" but may, in the right circumstances, "be inquired into on cross-examination."

noted the prosecutor based the claim of relevance on the prosecutor's having spoken to a prosecutor in Illinois about the 1984 case. The court said the defense should not "misunderstand, I'm not saying I would admit this, I'm saying there is a chance I would and if I thought there wasn't a chance in daylight that I would be letting this evidence in, I would tell you that." <sup>3</sup> (*Id.*).

The court again undertook to elicit Mr. Hunt's "final decision," but the prosecutor said, "I want to give you one other link on the question of this murder and armed robbery. It, again, it's been represented to me by law enforcement that in that case in 1984 ... the defendant [as in this case] made an allegation that [the] officer ... had beat him." (76:93, App. 155). The prosecutor thought it "relevant" that Mr. Hunt had "been down this road before on a case where he is purported to have been involved with a clerk in a retail establishment, a gas station with a gun." (Id.). The court said it would not make a ruling unless necessary, and again sought Mr. Hunt's "final decision." (76:93-94, App. 155-156).

After defense counsel and Mr. Hunt spoke off the Record, this exchange ensued:

MR. HENDERSON [defense counsel]: He's asking you about a final decision. You still want to testify?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As will be seen, when the court was challenged in the post-conviction motion, it ruled it was a "slam dunk" certainty it would have admitted the evidence.

MR. HUNT: I made my final decision. I'm ready to move forward, Judge. I'm going to remain right here.

THE COURT: You've made your final decision?

MR. HUNT: Yes.

THE COURT: That is that you do not wish to testify.

MR. HUNT: Yes. I testified yesterday.[4] I think that's clear enough, your Honor, I'm, okay.

MR. GRAVELY [prosecutor]: He testified yesterday. He thinks that's clear enough.

THE COURT: Well, the jury didn't hear it. Do you want to testify? You don't have to have a reason.

MR. HUNT: I said no.

THE COURT: You do not have to give me any reason at all. That's what we mean by it's being your choice.

MR. HUNT: I don't want to testify.

THE COURT: You do not want to testify?

MR. HUNT: No.

THE COURT: Then you don't have to.

MR. HUNT: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: And I'll ask your lawyer in a little bit ... how you want me to instruct the jury on the subject. [(76:94-95, App. 156-157).]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This refers to proceedings, interspersed in breaks from the trial, where Mr. Hunt and others testified in a suppression motion hearing. The suppression hearing did not conclude until the evidentiary portion of the trial was almost over. (83).

#### Post-Conviction Motion and Response

Mr. Hunt sought post-conviction relief. His motion alleged that judicial error, prosecutorial tactics, and his counsel's performance, combined, rendered his waiver of the right to testify unknowing and involuntary. (59). In addition to the facts discussed above and the arguments that follow, the post-conviction motion claimed that Mr. Hunt would testify as follows at an evidentiary hearing:

Mr. Hunt wished to testify in his defense, but surrendered the right after he was threatened with the likelihood of the introduction of the Waukegan-related judgment, coupled with the "substantial risk" or "some chance" (he could not be sure which one the court threatened) that the State would be allowed to adduce evidence that he had committed an armed robbery of a clerk in a retail establishment 22 years before allegedly committing the charged offense; that that 1984 armed robbery had resulted in the death of a clerk and his conviction for murder; and that he had claimed, presumably falsely, that he was beaten by police in the 1984 case just as he claimed to have been beaten by police in this case. 5

Mr. Hunt's desire to testify was overborne as the prosecutor kept adding possible lines of attack that could flow from his testimony: first, the prosecutor would obstruct his ability to claim he was beaten; then the prosecutor would tell the jury that, in effect, the decision as to guilt in the Waukegan case had already been made

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The prosecutor did not expressly claim but implied, because that is the only reason the evidence would have been relevant, that Mr. Hunt lied about being beaten by police in the 1980's and therefore was more likely to have lied about claiming to have been beaten by police in this case.

for them; next, the prosecutor would tell the jury that Mr. Hunt had also robbed a clerk in a retail establishment in 1984; finally, he might even tell the jury that Mr. Hunt committed murder on that occasion, and he would certainly claim that Mr. Hunt falsely claimed in 1984 that he had been beaten, just as he was falsely making such a claim here. Once all that was laid before Mr. Hunt, he felt he had no real choice but to forego his testimony which, the court knew, was his entire defense

The prosecutor's implication was false that Mr. Hunt had falsely claimed to have been beaten in 1984. In particular, Mr. Hunt alleges that, if the prosecutor had been required (for example, by a ruling prompted by defense counsel's request) to undertake his burden, as proponent of the evidence, and if the prosecutor had undertaken a reasonably prudent investigation of the events from 1984, the prosecutor would have to have conceded that Mr. Hunt's claims to have been beaten in 1984 were *substantiated*; his statements were not admitted against him because of the circumstances under which the police took them, and he recovered a civil judgment.

Mr. Hunt was not able to obtain his attorney's help in this regard: defense counsel had told Mr. Hunt that he had not even read all the trial transcripts from the Waukegan case, much less had he obtained any information (on his own or from the prosecution) about the 1984 charges. The court had forced the defense to conduct the suppression hearings concurrently with the jury trial proceedings, and defense counsel had lacked adequate information to challenge the prosecutor when he falsely informed the court that Mr. Hunt's sister and wife had testified in Illinois, or to challenge the prosecutor's false claims that the federal courts had adjudicated adversely to Mr. Hunt his lawsuit alleging police brutality regarding his statements in this and the Waukegan case. Given all these circumstances, Mr.

Hunt believed it was very likely that, if he testified, the State would be permitted to tell the jury that he had committed an armed robbery and a murder in Illinois in 1984, and that he falsely claimed that police extracted statements in that case by beating him. Under the duress of these threats, Mr. Hunt changed his mind and decided against testifying.

Defense counsel sought no additional time, and the court offered none, to decide whether to testify after the single ten-minute break the court provided. Subsequent to that break, as shown in the appended materials [also appended to this brief, App. 133-157], several threats were added. Mr. Hunt had to weigh those threats without the benefit of further advice from his attorney.

Mr. Hunt was acutely surprised by the threat to reveal details of his 1984 crimes to the jury. He had been led to believe in pretrial proceedings that, by stipulating to the "felon" element of the charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm, he would avoid this situation. See, Tr. 10/06/08 at 36-37 [(74:36-37)]. When the threats were issued, Mr. Hunt came to believe he had been tricked, and this contributed to his decision to merely give up on his desire to testify. [(59:8-11) (Footnote 5 in this passage was also footnote 5 in the motion.)]

The State opposed the motion, including the request for an evidentiary hearing. (61, 64). However, the State noted the post-conviction motion was based on matters wholly documented in the transcript. (61:1). The State defended the process as "an exploration from all parties about what sorts of questions the State could ask in cross-examination," contending it was "extremely common" for "cautious prosecutors to preview these areas." (*Id.*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> At trial, the prosecutor did refer to questions that "[t]he defense and I want to talk to the Court about," and defense counsel did not

Mr. Hunt's counsel filed a letter-reply countering that the proceedings comprised a series of "evidentiary threats" "presented to [the] defendant in the context of ascertaining whether the defendant intended to testify..." Mr. Hunt's counsel disagreed that the proceedings were "extremely common" and opined he had seen nothing like it in over 20 years of practice. (62:3). The prosecutor answered with a letter repeating a denial of coercive intent or impact, and that the issue could be resolved without an evidentiary hearing. (64).

#### **Hearing on Post-Conviction Motion**

Judge Schroeder convened a hearing, joined in the courtroom by the prosecutor and over the telephone by Mr. Hunt from one location and his counsel from another. (78:2, App. 103).<sup>7</sup> The court indicated that "before determining about the appropriateness of an evidentiary hearing, I thought it best to discuss some of the aspects of what's being claimed by the defense in the motion." (*Id.*).

The entire transcript is appended because the court's rationale and ruling are developed throughout. (78:1-29, App. 102-130). The court essentially concluded it had properly educated Mr. Hunt in advance as to "the pitfalls that might be in his path if he testified." (78:2, App. 103). The court said Mr. Hunt got "more than most defendants get,"

contradict him, but the prosecutor and the court did most of the talking. (76:71, App. 133).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This page of the transcript shows that Mr. Hunt and his lawyer each appeared by telephone; the sentencing transcript corroborates Mr. Hunt would still have been in Illinois, serving a 29 year sentence, when this hearing occurred. (77).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As noted, the prosecutor suggested the proceedings were "extremely common." (61:1).

and suggested that what Mr. Hunt got was better than if the court and the prosecutor had said "nothing." (*Id.*).

Mr. Hunt's counsel responded that, when the court told Mr. Hunt there was a "substantial risk" his testimony would trigger damaging evidence, the court became obliged to resolve the risks to ensure Mr. Hunt's decision was knowing and voluntary. Counsel argued that the evidentiary predictions were threats, and that, while threats were not "pejorative" in and of themselves, they became improperly coercive when they were left "inchoate." (78:7, 3, App. 108, 104).

The court noted no case required it to rule in advance on the propriety of "questions that haven't even been asked yet," and counsel responded that, "when you have undertaken to partially advise, you can't just disclose the element of that that constitutes a threat without then resolving it." (78:4-5, App. 105-106).

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