RECEIVED 04-06-2011

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2010AP2516-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LESHURN HUNT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9620 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) obriendj@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXPLORED THE CONSEQUENCES OF TESTIFYING IN ITS COLLOQUY WITH HUNT BEFORE HE DECIDED NOT TO TESTIFY.

A. The applicable law concerning waiver of the right to testify in Wisconsin.

In State v. Weed, 2003 WI 85, ¶¶40-43, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485, the supreme court held in its law-developing capacity that from that day forward Wisconsin trial courts must engage criminal defendants who decide not to testify in a colloquy to determine whether their waiver of the fundamental right to testify was voluntary and intelligent. Accord State v. Garcia, 2010 WI App 26, 323 Wis. 2d 531, 779 N.W.2d 718. Although the court did not expressly say so, it appears this requirement was imposed in its supervisory authority over the lower courts of this state. See State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 267, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). The court acknowledged that this is a minority position among courts across the land, noting that the majority of courts have "concerns regarding trial strategy and the integrity of the attorney-client relationship." State v. Weed. 263 Wis. 2d 434, ¶41. This constitutional question is reviewed de novo, but in light of the undisputed or not clearly erroneous facts as found by the trial court. *Id.* ¶13.

This court has held that the corollary to the right to testify, that being the right *not* to testify, is fundamental as well, and the defendant's waiver thereof must be knowing and voluntary. *State v. Jaramillo*, 2009 WI App 39, ¶¶10-11, 316 Wis. 2d 538, 765 N.W.2d 855. This court held, however, that it lacked the supervisory authority over circuit courts to require an on-the-record waiver colloquy with the defendant. Such a requirement must come, as it did in *Weed*, from the Wisconsin Supreme Court. *Id*. ¶16. This court, instead, *recommended* that circuit courts

engage in such a colloquy when a defendant decides to testify. *Id.* ¶17.²

If there has been no colloquy, once the issue is raised in the defendant's postconviction motion, the postconviction court must determine whether the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right not to testify. *Id.* ¶18. The postconviction court must ascertain at that stage, "whether the defendant knew about the right not to testify, the consequences of not testifying, and that this right could be exercised even if the defendant's attorney counseled to the contrary." *Id.* ¶14.

B. Hunt waived any right to review of the trial court's colloquy by not objecting to it.

Hunt complained for the first time in his postconviction motion and now on appeal that the trial court in its colloquy went too far in discussing with him the serious risks he faced by testifying. Hunt complained for the first time in his postconviction motion and now on appeal that the trial court "coerced" him into deciding against testifying with "threats" about what the prosecutor might ask him on cross-examination (59:8-11; 62:3-4; Hunt's brief at 10-12, 23-26). Hunt now complains that the trial court "compromised [his] right to knowingly and voluntarily decide whether to testify." Hunt's brief at 18 (initial capitalization omitted). Hunt, however, never objected on that ground at the time of the colloquy. Hunt never complained to the trial court at the time of the colloguy that he felt "coerced" by its "threats." Hunt merely waived his right to testify at the conclusion of the colloguy without objection (76:94-95; A-Ap. 156-57).

² The issue whether the Wisconsin Supreme Court should mandate in its supervisory capacity an on-the-record colloquy between the trial court and the defendant to ascertain whether waiver of the right *not* to testify is voluntary and intelligent, is now pending before that court. *State v. Rickey R. Denson*, Appeal No. 2009AP0694-CR.

Moreover, Hunt never provided the trial court with an offer of proof as to what his testimony would have been had the court's "threats" not prevented him from testifying. *See* Wis. Stat. §901.03(1)(b).³

Failure to object at trial generally precludes appellate review of a claim, even if it is of constitutional dimension. *See, e.g., State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶10-11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727; *State v. Davis*, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517-19, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996); *State v. Edelburg*, 129 Wis. 2d 394, 400-01, 384 N.W.2d 724 (Ct. App. 1986).

To properly preserve an objection for review, the litigant must "articulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context[] . . . so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources." *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 172-73, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999) (citation omitted).

A defendant waives or forfeits appellate review of an error by failing to make both a contemporaneous objection and a motion for mistrial. *See, e.g., Haskins v. State,* 97 Wis. 2d 408, 424, 294 N.W.2d 25 (1980); *Neely v. State,* 97 Wis. 2d 38, 54-55, 292 N.W.2d 859 (1980); *State v. Patino,* 177 Wis. 2d 348, 380, 502 N.W.2d 601 (Ct. App. 1993). The purpose of the waiver rule is to enable the trial court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the proceedings. *See State v. Boshcka,* 178 Wis. 2d 628, 643, 496 N.W.2d 627 (Ct. App. 1992). *Also see State v. Guzman,* 2001 WI App 54, ¶25, 241 Wis. 2d 310, 624 N.W.2d 717.

³ For the first time in his postconviction motion and now on appeal, Hunt presented an offer of proof that his allegation he was beaten by police in 1984 was later "substantiated." Hunt's brief at 11.

The United States Supreme Court has held that constitutional rights of this nature are waived, or forfeited, by a defendant's (or his attorney's) failure to object when the constitutional violation occurred. *Levine v. United States*, 362 U.S. 610, 619 (1960). *See Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444 (1944) ("[n]o procedural principle is more familiar to this Court than that a constitutional right may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right"). *Also see Peretz v. United States*, 501 U.S. 923, 936-37 (1991); *United States v. Broce*, 488 U.S. 563, 574-76 (1989); *United States v. Van Waeyenberghe*, 481 F.3d 951, 957-58 (7th Cir. 2007) (holding that a double jeopardy challenge can be forfeited by failure to object).

The trial court engaged Hunt in a waiver colloquy that, it believed, comported with the requirements set out by the court in State v. Weed. Hunt never gave the trial court the opportunity to correct its alleged violation of his constitutional right to testify because he never called the alleged violation to its attention. Hunt never explained to the court that its efforts to comply with Weed, and to ensure that his decision whether or not to exercise his right to testify was knowing and voluntary, amounted to a series of "threats" that undermined the right. Hunt never moved for a mistrial on the ground that the trial court's "threats" prevented him from testifying when it was his desire to do so. Nor did Hunt present an offer of proof as to what his testimony would have been. Had he done so, it would have crystallized the issues and enabled the trial court to evaluate what would and would not be a relevant area of inquiry on cross-examination. See Wis. Stat. §901.03(1)(b); State v. Groh, 69 Wis. 2d 481, 488-89, 230 N.W.2d 745 (1975); State v. Moffett, 46 Wis. 2d 164, 168-69, 174 N.W.2d 263 (1970). This court should not, therefore, review Hunt's forfeited challenge to the adequacy of the colloquy on its merits. Compare State v. Jaramillo, 316 Wis. 2d 538, ¶14 (no waiver where the trial court failed to engage the defendant in any waiver colloquy before he took the stand at trial, and the issue was raised for the first time postconviction).

C. The trial court's on-the-record colloquy satisfied both the letter and spirit of *Weed* and *Jaramillo*.

Hunt complains that the trial court did *too much* to protect his constitutional right to decide whether or not to testify. According to Hunt, the trial court "threatened" and "coerced" him when it correctly advised him that the prosecutor would be allowed to establish he had five prior convictions; to confront him with the Waukegan judgment of conviction should he deny any involvement in that offense, and might be allowed to challenge the credibility of his claim that he was beaten by police with proof that he made the same claim under almost identical circumstances in 1984 (59:8-10; 62:3-4; Hunt's brief at 10-12, 23-26).

According to Hunt, it would have been better had the trial court left him in the dark about the risks of testifying (78:5; A-Ap. 106; Hunt's brief at 22). The trial court wisely saved Hunt from himself when it chose to engage him in the colloquy required by *Weed* to obtain his "informed consent." Having been properly and thoroughly apprised of the potential risks, Hunt and his attorney balanced those risks against the benefits of testifying, before Hunt decided not to testify (76:94-95; A-Ap. 156-57).

What Hunt wanted is not what the law now requires. The trial court followed both the letter and spirit of the law when it explored with Hunt "the consequences of" testifying. State v. Jaramillo, 316 Wis. 2d 538, ¶14 (so holding with respect to the corollary right not to testify). One such "consequence" is that Hunt risked being impeached with his five prior convictions. Another "consequence" is that Hunt risked being confronted with the Waukegan judgment of conviction to impeach any testimony by him that he was not involved in that robbery. Yet another "consequence" is that Hunt might be asked questions regarding his claim that police beat him in 1984

to impeach him should he testify that police beat his confession out of him under similar circumstances in 2006.

The trial court was correct to label as "bizarre" Hunt's belief that it was better for him to be left in the dark until questions on these topics (and perhaps others) were sprung on him during cross-examination at trial (78:26; A-Ap. 127). Hunt cited no authority to the trial court then, and he cites none now, for that novel proposition because there obviously is none. Again, case law now requires Wisconsin trial courts to explore with defendants during the waiver colloquy the "consequences" of testifying or not testifying. That is precisely what the trial court tried to do here. Sure, the trial court might have satisfied this requirement by merely asking defense counsel whether he explored with Hunt the consequences of testifying, and then asking Hunt whether he agreed with counsel, see State v. Garcia, 323 Wis. 2d 531, ¶13, but the thorough colloquy engaged in here ensured against any bogus future ineffective assistance of counsel challenge by laying out completely on the record what specific consequences, relevant to this particular case, were explored before Hunt decided not to testify.⁴

Hunt also cites no authority for his novel alternative proposition: that the trial court must advise him what questions it will allow and not allow the prosecutor to ask on cross-examination before he has to decide whether or not to testify. Nothing in *Weed* requires such a radical and time-consuming exercise. Such a rule would require trial courts to make prospective evidentiary rulings

⁴ Hunt seems to be arguing for a return to the pre-Weed jurisprudence where an on-the-record waiver colloquy of the right either to testify or not to testify was not required because it risked interfering with the attorney-client relationship, and risked coercing a defendant into making a decision against his own wishes. Hunt's brief at 19-20. That is the position the state took in both Weed and Jaramillo, and is the sound position of a majority of jurisdictions in this country. See State v. Weed, 263 Wis. 2d 434, ¶41.

in a vacuum, subject to change if the evidence comes in differently than anticipated. Certainly, Hunt could have sought a ruling in limine by making an offer of proof with his own testimony out of the presence of the jury, or with a summary of his anticipated trial testimony. See Wis. Stat. §§901.03(1)(b) and 901.04. To date, the state, the circuit court and this court do not know how Hunt would have testified because he failed to make an offer of proof. Absent any offer of proof on his part, it is absurd for Hunt to expect the trial court to rule in a vacuum on the scope of the state's cross-examination without any idea what his testimony on direct would be. The circuit court made it clear to Hunt it would only allow cross-examination on matters that are relevant. Absent an offer of proof as to what his testimony would be, the circuit court could not be expected to know whether an area of cross-examination is "relevant" unless and until it heard Hunt's testimony on direct at trial. See State v. Moffett, 46 Wis. 2d at 168-69.

Hunt does not dispute that his five prior convictions were relevant and admissible and, as such, could be addressed on cross-examination. The Waukegan judgment of conviction would have been relevant and admissible had Hunt denied on direct examination any involvement in that now conclusively proven offense. Although Hunt objected to any inquiry into the 1984 offenses (for which he had spent most of the years between them and the 2006 robberies in custody), he does not explain why cross-examination would have been irrelevant, assuming he denied any involvement in the 2006 Dollar Saver store and Waukegan robberies; or, assuming Hunt claimed his confession was beaten out of him in 2006, just as he claimed he was beaten by police under similar circumstances in 1984.

Finally, the trial court correctly reasoned that it was doing nothing more in its colloquy with Hunt than what defense counsel presumably had already done with him. Defense counsel was fully aware of the Waukegan robbery conviction. Counsel was also fully aware of the 1984 murder/robbery/burglary/theft convictions, as his

client served some seventeen years in prison for them, and defense counsel agreed that they comprised four of Hunt's five prior convictions (the other being the Waukegan robbery conviction) (76:89-90; A-Ap. 151-52). No doubt, when discussing with Hunt whether he should testify, trial counsel tried to anticipate what the state might ask on cross-examination about those five prior offenses. doubt counsel told his client the state would likely establish that he has five prior convictions, that he was tried and convicted in Waukegan if he should deny any involvement in that offense, and the state might try to question him about the 1984 offenses. Counsel might also have feared that, depending on how his testimony went, Hunt might inadvertently "open the door" to detailed rebuttal testimony about the similar 1984 offenses to attack his credibility.

D. Any error in the trial court's colloquy was harmless.

Proven violations of the right to testify are subject to harmless error analysis. *Ortega v. O'Leary*, 843 F.2d 258, 262 (7th Cir. 1988); *Arredondo v. Pollard*, 498 F. Supp. 2d 1113, 1127-28 (E.D. Wis. 2007), *aff'd*, 542 F.3d 1155 (7th Cir. 2008). Thus, in cases where the defendant claims he was denied the right to testify, the court looks to what impact his testimony would have had on the trial. *Barrow v. Uchtman*, 398 F.3d 597, 608 n.12 (7th Cir. 2005). *Also see Alexander v. United States*, 219 F. App'x 520, 523-24 (7th Cir. 2007) (when the claimed denial of the right to testify is presented in the context of an ineffective assistance challenge, a defendant who proves deficient performance must also prove actual prejudice). *Also see Reynolds v. United States*, 2010 WL 3835057, *3 (S.D. W. Va. Sept. 29, 2010).

There is no reasonable doubt that the verdict would have been the same had Hunt testified. *See State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. His testimony would have had no conceivable result-changing impact on the trial.

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